KENWYN CHURCH
A HISTORY OF THE PARISH MUSIC
1259-1935

Music has always played its part in the Worship of God. Of St Keyne, who built the first Church at Kenwyn
circa 463 AD, it is said by her chronicler writing some 600 years later that ‘she built a house for the Singing
of the Praises of God'.

When the present Church was dedicated in 1259 the music of those days was the plain-song Proper and
Common of the Mass with many of the great plainsong hymns, used even today, being sung unaccompanied.

With the Reformation came the regular recitation of the Psalms and this was followed by the metrical version
in 1592 which may have been used at Kenwyn very early and was certainly in use in 1621 as the publisher
(Ravenscroft) lived in Truro. This version was still used in Kenwyn Church as late as 1855, for the Clergy and
Churchwardens presented a copy as a prize to one Nathaniel Bullen (aged 10).

The Choir of the eighteenth-century resided in a gallery on pillars at the west-end of the Church by the tower
arch. They were paid, as was their leader and given an Annual treat. They had a pitch-pipe to get their note
and sang unaccompanied. But Bishop Gibson complained in 1724 ‘they sometimes seem to be contending
as to who can sing the loudest. You may see them often strain themselves with shouting, till their faces are
red as scarlet’. There is a reference in an accounts book of a pitch-pipe being acquired in 1787 and in 1788
‘For Pricking Musick 5s 10d’, “To Mr Brown for writing 70 pages of Musick 5s 10d’, and in 1789: ‘Deduct Sam
Brown pricking tunes twice 5s 10d’. It seems clear from the last entry that writing and pricking the music
meant the same thing. 1

In 1819 Kenwyn Parish Church became dilapidated and unsafe so a major restoration was started. The pitch-
pipe unaccompanied singing was replaced in 1820 by a village orchestra requiring the Churchwardens to
regularly find money to pay for repairs to the instruments. We know from a sketch of ‘The Village Orchestra’
that Kenwyn had a band which played in the gallery, which consisted of a flute, clarinet, bassoon, serpent,
violin and double-bass. # 12

It is apparent that the Anglican Church in Cornwall was trying to reform its liturgical practice by exercising
more control over its musical content by introducing organs. As Dr Busby wrote in 1820:

‘an instrument powerful enough to drown the voices of the parish clerk, charity children, and
congregation, is an inestimable blessing.” * %8

In 1823, the Reverend Coleridge, newly installed Vicar of Kenwyn, had high ideals of reform when one of
the first acts of his incumbency was to set up a subscription to install an organ in the church. There was
certainly opposition to the proposal: when considering

‘the best method of improving the singing in Kenwyn Church, which of late has been dependent upon
the exertions of a single individual having for some time been in agitation; it appeared to the Rev. Mr
Coleridge that a hand organ would be the most effectual and certain method of leading the
congregation in that part of the divine service.” %3

His argument was that the instrument — presumably a barrel organ —would be a considerable financial saving
of the current expense of £11-£12 per annum; and after considerable opposition from some parishioners

‘especially in a quarter from whence it was least expected’, the proposal was carried though the full cost of
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£90-£100 must be raised by subscription as the parish agreed to pay annually £20 ‘to get rid of the perpetual
tax for singing.” In February 1824, a Barrel Organ of five-stops from Lincoln (containing ‘2 8” barrels each of
12 tunes. 80 guineas + 8 guineas for each barrell’ with sets of psalms and hymn tunes) was acquired to
augment the village orchestra. > ©

Rev. James Duke Coleridge, Vicar of Kenwyn 1823-28 1°

It is known that Kenwyn bought a cello in 1845 to use alongside the barrel organ. Perhaps the last remnant
of the old village band. We found the story from Kenwyn of the cello player who said, ‘Give us the rosin, Bill,
and I'll let ‘em know who's the King of Glory!” 11

In 1846 ‘it was proposed to raise by subscription, a Finger Organ’ to replace the small barrel organ which had
‘become unfit even for the simplest celebration of Divine Service’. This new one-manual organ was

eventually built in 1848 by G. M. Holdich of London. 3,6
The Royal Cornwall Gazette, April, 1848, reported:

‘...on the occasion of the opening of the new organ...the Rev E Shuttleworth officiated at the reading
desk, and to those of our readers who are acquainted with that reverend gentleman’s musical
capabilities and his zealous application of them to the service of the sanctuary, any praise from us,
of his intoning, or of the results of his superintendence of the choir practice, would appear
superfluous. He was ably sustained by the choir, under the immediate direction of Mr Hempel
presiding at the organ with his usual good taste and great ability. And, while both Priest and
Choristers ably acquitted themselves, it was highly satisfactory that the congregation were thus
enabled to join heartily, throughout the service, in the beautiful chants and responses...The new
Organ recently erected in this Church is to be opened next Wednesday morning; on which occasion
it will be played by Mr Hempel, the organist of St Mary’s. The Choir will be assisted by a portion of
St Mary’s Choir and by members of Truro Choral Society. The tone of this instrument is full, mellow
rich; and amply powerful. It possesses some peculiarities of construction as will be seen from the
following scheme, with which we have been favoured by the builder, Mr G M Holditch, [sic] Greek
Street Soho, London. The compass of the keys is from CC to F in alt, with a Bourdon to CCC. The
other stops are Open, Diapason Bass, Open Diapason, Treble, Stopt Diapason Bass, Clarabella,
Dulciana, Principal, Twelfth, Fifteenth and Diaocton. This last named stop was invented by Mr
Holditch [sic] and is said to be of great value in a small organ, by making each small stop equal to
two; and in playing fugues, it produces an exceedingly brilliant effect by imparting strength to the
chorus parts. By the application of this stop the Kenwyn Organ possesses the power of the following
stops: Open Diapason, Principal, Twelfth, Larigot, Fifteenth, Doublette and Bourdon. There are three
composition pedals with double action to pull the stops in and out; and also an octave and half of
German pedals.” 34



On 20 December 1860 Kenwyn Church Tower was struck by lightening and the Church had to be closed for
15 months for the building once more to be restored. By 1862, the organ was also rebuilt by James Grover
with a second manual added and sited in the south transept. It was designed to allow light to come in from
the south transept window, which was of clear leaded glass.

A report on the opening service in The Royal Cornwall Gazette, May, 23, 1862, commented:

‘The organ is now a fine instrument of rich and powerful tone, and the organist, Miss Dunn, played it
with great ability.” 3

Most of the money for the reconstruction of the instrument was in fact raised by Miss Ellen Dunn.* Mr
Arthur W. Gill, a later organist, writes:

‘The twenty-two years during which Mrs Carter was organist saw a great revival in Church music not
only at Kenwyn, but throughout the country. Hymns Ancient and Modern took the place of the
Metrical Psalms; the Psalms were sung (a daring venture in those days) from Mercer’s Church Psalter,
selections from the Oratorios and Anthems were performed and the choir and organ were fortified
with an orchestra on special occasions.” >

The organ was added to by Hele & Co., of Plymouth in 1866 and overhauled by Messrs Brewer & Co., of
Truro in 1877 and the result ‘much improved its external appearance’.

The Royal Cornwall Gazette reported:

. Agreat many people have felt interested in the re-open-
ing of the Kenwyn Organ, and the Church was full on
Sunday morning. Upinions notoriously differ on every-
thing under the sun, and hence it is not surprising that
various estimates have been formed as to the work
Messrs. Brewer and Co. have just accomplished. The
general verdiot, however, is a very favourable one, and
no doubt those acute (not long) ears which detected
some imperfections in the quality of the notes will, in a
few w » come round to a different conclusion. The
fact is, I believe, that a newly-constructed organ is never
wholly in tune at once. The vibration caused by play-
ing shakes the reeds a little out of their original position ;
and hence, until they get into thorough working order,
they require frequent tuning. Of the quality of the sing-
ing ane of Mrs. Carter's playing, on Sunday, for a
wonder, Ihave not heard twoopinions. The sermons,
too, were very noticeable, especially that by the Vicar
in the afternoon. He dwelt with much force on the duty
of congregational singing. In my humble opinion
clergymen have another and even more effectnal way of
obtamning this desirable end: let them see that the
music to be sung is not of too elaborate a character :
but such as it is really possible the congregation can
ﬁzm &xfd?hi ie:h the fhtc;ix: atnc}‘ oflmth ist thoroughly un-
rs eir duty is fo lead the congr i
to sing to them. TN

o a4y - v - -

Royal Cornwall Gazette, Friday 16 February, 1877

* The Kenwyn organist Ellen Dunn married Mr R.H. Carter [Harry Carter] the artist in 1866. She was also accompanist of the Truro
Philharmonic Society until she left for Plymouth in 1884. She died in 1913 and is buried in Kenwyn churchyard. °
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Arthur Gill tells us:

‘At that time, the choir stalls were of three rows in the south transept in front of the organ where
there was also a small fireplace to provide warmth. Amongst the names of members of the choir are
many well-known in Kenwyn: Carlyons of Trevrea; Paulls of Bosvigo; Chilcotts of Gwendroc; the
Bullen family; Carus-Wilsons of Penmount; Gills of Comprigney; Philips of Hendra; R.H. Carter;
members of Bishop Benson’s family and, later, the daughters of Bishop Wilkinson...The great work
done by Mrs Carter and Mr N.B. Bullen during these years laid the foundation of the good name that
Kenwyn has had for its excellent music, a tradition that is still being carried on. Mr N.B. Bullen spent
forty years with the choir as chorister and choirmaster and was presented with a handsome silver
salver in 1895." & 12

After the restoration of the Church Interior 1862 *°
For a short time, Mr Crosby Smith was appointed organist and choirmaster in 1890. 3

Arthur Gill succeeded as organist, and in 1894 a new organ was rebuilt from the existing instrument, and
added to, by Brewer’s, at a cost of £325, and at that time it was moved from the south transept to the east
end of the south aisle (where the choir stalls now stand) It was a pitch pine case and painted pipes and was
dedicated on 27 July by the Vicar of Kenwyn, Archdeacon Cornish and an organ recital followed by Dr M J
Monk from Truro Cathedral. % > 6



The Royal Cornwall Gazette reported in great detail the grand opening:

THE NEW ORGAN AT KENWYN
CHURCH.
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Royal Cornwall Gazette, Friday 2 August, 1894



There is a report of a Choral Harvest Festival in September 1907 where ‘...the choir sang Turner’s harvest
cantata, “Festal Song”...[and] “The Lord is my Strength” (Josiah Booth) was intelligently rendered by the
choir... Mr. A. W. Gill (organist) played Best’s “Fantasia in F,” Lemare’s “Romance in D flat,” with artistic
method and skill, and the overture to “Athalie” [Mendelssohn]...creditably rendered by the organ and
orchestra’.3

In the Spring of 1915, amidst the Great War, Arthur Gill, ‘our highly-valued organist for more than twenty
years’ resigned his post. ‘...the responsibility now resting on him as a soldier is so heavy.” The vacancy was
filled by Mr. L. J. Carlyon. Mr. Herbert J. Thomas was appointed choirmaster.
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West Briton - Saturday 3 April, 1915 - (p.2 col.6)



By 1920 the organist and choirmaster was Mr. Gordon Hall. There are interesting reports in The West Briton
of two carol services given during this period (1920, 1923).
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‘!  KENWYN CAROL SERVICE
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¥ Kenwyn Church was crowded on Sunday even- | !
< g on the occasion of the carol service of the
< omine  lessons whioh were reawd by the  viear
¢ (Rev. F. Thomas) and the curate (Bev. Alfred
i Ewen). The carols were “ God rest you merry
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* berald Angels sing.”
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. Fanlkeoer, Barrett, Arthur, Rule, Odgers, Rule
1 *nd Knibb. The organist and choirmaster (Mr.
Gordon Hull) conducted and wis assisted at the
"oorgan by Miss Duisy Jenkin, M:. Arthur Gill
- assisted the ehoir,
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g first sonata, and the * Hallelujah Chorus * was |
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Monday 5 January, 1920 - (p.2 col.4) Thursday 11 January, 1923 - (p.7 col.2)

In a report entitled ‘’KENWYN ORGAN RECITAL — CHURCH ORGAN RENOVATED.’ — The West Briton — Thursday
15 February, 1923, we are told:

‘After complete overhauling and cleaning by Messrs. Hele and Co., Plymouth, Kenwyn Church organ
was re-opened on Sunday [11 February 1923]. The work, which cost about £35, included the removal
of a portion of the mechanism, and a number of stops were revoiced. Up to yesterday £7 more was
required, but this sum was met by the collections at the services. On Sunday evening, the organist,
Mr. Gordon Hall, gave an excellent organ recital. Included in the programme were selections from
Mendelssohn, Goss-Custard, Lemare, and Hollins. They were: - Overture to “Athalie” (Mendelssohn);
“Impressions du Soir” (Goss-Custard);* Andante in A flat (Lemare); and Concert Overture (Hollins). —
The anthems “Comes at Times” (Oakeley), and “The Radiant Morn” (Woodward), were admirably
given by the choir, and Miss N. Pascoe effectively contributed the solo “O for the wings”
(Mendelssohn). The service was conducted by the vicar, the Rev. F Thomas.’

* Probably “Impressions du Soir” by Heinrich Stiehl (arr. Reginald Goss-Custard)
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In 1935 in the hope of restoring Kenwyn Church to its former glory, it was decided to move the instrument
once more. So the present organ chamber was built. The organ was completely restored by Hele & Company
of Plymouth and turned into a three-manual instrument. A detached console and electric blower were also
fitted. The total cost of £4,200 was met by Arthur William Gill in memory of his father William Nicholas Gill
(for 34 years a Lay Reader and 23 years a Churchwarden of Kenwyn) and his mother, Ada Gill. It was
rededicated on Saturday 11 February 1935 by the Venerable G W Hockley (Archdeacon of Cornwall) and an
opening recital was given by Mr F Guillaume Ormond from Truro Cathedral. In the book celebrating this
event edited and mostly written by Arthur Gill, there is an article by R.F. Wheatly explaining the advantage
of building a separate chamber outside the main aisles of the church as by this method:

‘priceless heritages left to us by former generations are not blocked off or hidden. Two of the modern
windows have been moved. One has been placed in the west wall of the south transept to give extra
light to it, and the other utilized to light the new organ chamber. This opens into the chancel, built
of granite and following in detail the fifteenth-century arcade. The arches are filled with richly carved
oak screens which serve to hide the rebuilt organ. All this has been made possible by the munificence
of the donor, Major Gill. This is the first step in the endeavour to bring back what must have been a
beautiful church in the fifteenth-century and which has been sadly ruined by the mistaken methods
of restoration of Victorian times.” %> 7

Arthur Gill tells us:

‘The rebuilding and removal of the organ from the south-east end to the new organ chamber, in
1935, opened up two stained-glass windows and made it possible to bring back this space to its
original purpose of a morning chapel.” 4

The fruits of these changes can be enjoyed to this day where the choir and organ at Kenwyn continue to do
justice to this beautiful church.

Andrew Wells, 5 February, 2021
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